IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

IN RE THE DETENTION OF SUPREME COURT NO. 18-0715

ROBERT SWANSON,
Respondent-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM

THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE KELLYANN M. LEKAR, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

AND

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MICHAEL H. ADAMS, AT0000357 Local Public Defender, Special Defense Unit

401 East Court Avenue, Suite 150 Des Moines, Iowa 50309 Telephone: (515) 288-0578

Facsimile: (515) 288-2020

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE AND FILING

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

IS THERE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO FIND THAT A 68-YEAR-OLD MAN REMAINS A SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR WHEN HIS LAST SEXUAL MISCONDUCT WAS A RAPE 38 YEARS PRIOR, WHEN HE HAS NOT HAD SEXUAL AROUSAL IN DECADES, WHEN HE IS DIAGNOSED WITH CONTRIVED MENTAL CONDITIONS, AND WHEN HE HAS AN ESTIMATED SEXUAL RECIDIVISM RATE OF NO MORE THAN 7.8% USING THE BEST RISK ASSESSMENT METHOD AVAILABLE?

Authorities

Cases

City of Forest City v. Holland Contracting Corp., 810 N.W.2d 532 (Table) 2012WL170195 (IowaCt.App. 2014)

In Re the Detention of Barnes, 689 N.W.2d 455 (Iowa 2004)

In Re the Detention of Betsworth, 711 N.W.2d 280 (Iowa 2006)

In Re the Detention of Hollins, 856 N.W.2d 1 (Table) 2014WL3931485 (IowaCt.App. 2014)

In Re the Detention of Swanson, 668 N.W.2d 570 (Iowa 2003)

In Re the Detention of Wygle, 910 N.W.2d 599 (Iowa 2018)

In re the Estate of Hagedorn, 690 N.W.2d 84 (Iowa 2004)

Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407, 122 S.Ct. 867 (2002)

Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 1997)

Statutes and Court Rules

Iowa Code section 229A.2(11)

Iowa Code section 229A.8(2)

Iowa Code section 229A.8(3)

Iowa Code section 229A.8(5)(e)

Iowa Code section 229A.8(6)

Other Resources

Erica Beecher-Monas & Edgar Garcia-Rill, Danger at the Edge of Chaos: Predicting Violent Behavior in a Post-Daubert World, 24 Cardozo L. Rev. 1845, 1860 (2003)

Melissa Hamilton, *Public Safety, Individual Liberty, and Suspect Science: Future Dangerousness Assessments and Sex Offender Laws*, 83 Temp. L. Rev. 697, 726–31 (2011)

Hanson, Babchishin, Helmus, Thornton, and Phenix, Communicating the Results of Criterion Referenced Prediction Measures: Risk Categories for the Static-99R and Static-99R and Static 202R Sexual Offender Risk Assessment Tools, Journal of Psychological Assessment (2016)

Hanson, Does Static-99 Predict Recidivism Among Older Sexual Offenders, *Sex Abuse* (2006)

Hanson, Recidivism and Age: Follow-Up Data From 4,673 Sexual Offenders, *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* (2002)

Hanson, Harris, Helmus, and Thornton, *High Risk Sex Offenders May Not Be High Risk Forever*, Journal of Interpersonal Violence (2014)

Harris and Hanson, Sex Offender Recidivism: A Simple Question, Public Safety and Preparedness Canada (2004)

Helmus, Thornton, Hanson, and Babchishin, Improving the Predictive Accuracy of Static-99 and Static 2002 With Older Sex Offenders: Revised Age Weights, Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment (2012)

Rebecca L. Jackson et al., *The Adequacy and Accuracy of Sexually Violent Predator Evaluations: Contextualized Risk Assessment in Clinical Practice*, 3 Int'l J. Forensic Mental Health 115, 124 (2004)

Eric S. Janus, Closing Pandora's Box: Sexual Predators and the Politics of Sexual Violence, 34 Seton Hall L. Rev. 1233, 1237 (2004)

Grant H. Morris, *The Evil That Men Do: Perverting Justice to Punish Perverts*, 2000 U. Ill. L. Rev. 1199, 1206–07 (2000)

Stephen J. Morse, Fear of Danger, Flight from Culpability, 4 Psychol. Pub. Pol'y & L. 250, 265 (1998)

Phenix, Helmus, and Hanson, *Static 99R and Static 2002R Evaluators' Workbook* (2016), available at static99.org

Smith, Dangerous Diagnoses, Risky Assumptions, and the Failed Experiment of "Sexually Violent Predator Commitment, 67 Okla. L. Rev. 619 (2015)

van den Berg, Smid, Schepers, Wever, van Beek, Janssen, and Gijs, The Predictive Properties of Dynamic Sex Offender Risk Assessment Instruments: A Meta-Analysis, Psychological Assessment (2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves the application of existing law and principles to the facts. As such, retention by the Court of Appeals would be appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal filed by Respondent-Appellant Robert Swanson (hereafter "Swanson") from the April 12, 2018 Order for Continuing Commitment filed by the district court following a final hearing held pursuant to Iowa Code section 229A.8(6).

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in District

Court: On November 2, 2017, the State filed a Notice of Annual Report and a Chapter 229A Annual Report. On said date, Swanson filed a Motion for Hearing. The case came to trial (final hearing) before the district court on February 21, 2018. On April 12, 2018, the district court entered an Order for Continuing Commitment, which provided that Swanson

should remain confined under chapter 229A. (Order Continuing Commitment)(App. p. 28). Swanson then filed notice of appeal on April 24, 2018. (Notice of Appeal)(App. p. 38).

Statement of Facts: Swanson was born on December 29, 1949, and was 68 years old at the time of trial. (Trial Transcript p. 5, ln. 1-2). In 1964 at the age of fourteen, Swanson was charged with his first sexual offense. In Re the Detention of Swanson, 668 N.W.2d 570, 573 (Iowa 2003). In 1973, he was convicted of raping a fourteen-year-old girl; and after being released from prison in 1979, was sentenced to prison in 1980 for a conviction of third degree sexual abuse. Id. It was determined that Swanson randomly contacted single women with whom he had little to no prior connection in an attempt to befriend them. Some of these women became victims of sexual assault by Swanson. Id.

In November, 2001, Swanson was living in a halfway house in Des Moines. *Id.* at 571. Swanson telephoned and wrote letters to a Christine Eiselstein, attempting to befriend her. *Id.* When Eiselstein reported these concerning events,

Swanson's sexual offending history was discovered. *Id.* The State then filed a petition under Iowa Code chapter 229A and alleged that the letter and telephone contacts constituted "recent overt acts". *Id.* at 574.

The district court determined that Swanson had in fact committed "recent overt acts" towards Eiselstein, and the jury found Swanson to be a sexually violent predator. Swanson was committed to the Civil Commitment Unit for Sexual Offenders (CCUSO). The Iowa Supreme Court affirmed the commitment in 2003. Swanson was determined to suffer from the mental abnormalities of Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified, and Personality Disorder Not Otherwise Specified with Antisocial, Narcissistic, and Schizoid Traits. (Trial Transcript, p. 64, ln. 12-16).

On November 2, 2017, the State filed its annual report pursuant to Iowa Code section 229A.8(2) and (3). Swanson requested an annual review hearing. At the hearing the district court determined that Swanson was entitled to a final hearing pursuant to Iowa Code section 229A.8(5)(e) and 229A.8(6). The final hearing was held on February 21, 2018.

At trial, the State called Swanson to testify. Swanson gave the details of his previous sexual offenses. On his first offense in 1973, he described how he and his fiancé had had a fight, and she decided that they should separate, which didn't work well for him. He went out on a date with "Cathy", and raped her later that evening. (Trial Transcript, p. 8, ln. 22-p. 11, ln. 21).

Later that month in October, Swanson raped "Barbara". Swanson described how it was a rough time for him. His marriage was "shot", but he felt compelled to try to keep it together even though he wasn't happy. He didn't love his wife. He wanted a normal life but he didn't have that. He was angry at his marital situation. (Trial Transcript, p. 11, ln. 22-p. 15, ln. 8).

On January 27, 1980, Swanson raped "Elizabeth". At trial in the present matter he described how she came to his home to look at a bedspread after they had met at a laundromat and had a conversation about crocheting or knitting. They sat on Swanson's bed because he didn't have another place to sit. He did not know how this situation went

from a normal social interaction to a rape. (Trial Transcript, p. p. 17, ln. 23). He was, however, very angry at his life situation. His ex-wife was interfering with him and his fiancé, she was calling his fiancé's family, and she was taking him to court for child support. He was paying an attorney \$100 per hour to represent him in the child support case. (Trial Transcript, p. 15, ln. 9-21).

While Swanson has been in CCUSO, he remains in Phase I of the program. He is eligible for Phase II, however, he stubbornly refuses to ask for it. (Trial Transcript, p. 32, ln. 15-p. 33, ln. 25). He attained Phase III, but was demoted after he refused to go to Iowa City for medical treatment because he would have to wear a "black box", an extra security measure placed over his handcuffs that caused him pain due to injuries. (Trial Transcript, p. 34, ln. 4-p. 35, ln. 9). Also during his confinement at CCUSO, Swanson wrote a threatening letter to Federal District Court Judge Linda Reade. As a result, he was placed in federal prison. He wrote a threatening letter to a former Assistant Attorney General. In the letter, Swanson makes the statement, "there will surely

come a time when your karma runs out and I hope I can somehow be there on that day to look you directly in your eyes because I would like to be the one holding and playing with the gun upside your head." (Order for Continuing Commitment, page 4)(App. p. 31), (Trial Transcript p. 62, ln. 9-p. 63, ln. 1).

When he committed his sexual offense in 1973, Swanson was 22 years old. When he committed his sexual offenses in 1979-1980, he was 30 years old. At the time of trial, he was 68 years old. In the 38 years from his last sexual offense to the present, Swanson has matured and lost his sex drive. The last time he had sexual relations was 1983. The last time he had an orgasm was approximately 1989. Swanson could not remember the last time he masturbated, and estimated it had been decades. He also could not remember when he had his last erection, but thought possibly 20 years prior. (Trial Transcript, p. 40, ln. 16-p. 42, ln. 8.)

Swanson admitted that he still harbors anger and resentment, but states that it is a different kind of anger. His last act of violence was when he punched someone in federal

prison in approximately 1990. (Trial Transcript, p. 42, ln. 23-p. 43, ln. 16). Swanson admits to violating rules at CCUSO, but did not receive a single behavior violation in seven and one-half years in federal prison. (Trial Transcript, p. 38, ln. 10-p. 39, ln. 18).

At the time of trial, Swanson suffered from a compression fracture in his lower back which requires that he use a cane, and inhibits his mobility. He's had two strokes, suffers from high blood pressure and neuropathy. (Trial Transcript, p. 43, ln. 19-p. 45, ln. 18). He doubts that he is physically capable of committing a rape, and states that he would "probably get the hell beat out of me if I tried." (Trial Transcript, p. 50, ln. 18-21).

As its second witness, the State called Dr. Stacey Hoem, Ph.D.. Dr. Hoem received her doctorate degree in clinical psychology in 2007. Trial Transcript, p. 79, ln. 12-14), (State's Exhibit 11)(App. p. 24). She works for the Wisconsin Department of Corrections doing risk assessments and evaluation, and also does evaluations with CCUSO. Trial Transcript, p. 79, ln. 19-24), (State's Exhibit 11)(App. p. 24).

Dr. Hoem has approximately one year of experience treating sexual offenders. (Trial Transcript, p. 80, ln. 5-15), (State's Exhibit 11)(App. p. 24).

As will be described in greater detail hereafter, Dr. Hoem opined that Swanson suffers from a "mental abnormality", and that he remains "more likely than not to commit a sexually violent offense if discharged.

Swanson called Dr. Richard Wollert, Ph.D. as his expert witness. Dr. Wollert is a clinical and forensic psychologist. Dr. Wollert earned his doctorate in 1977. His specialty is sexual offender evaluation and treatment. He created a State certified outpatient mental health clinic specializing in the treatment of sexual offenders where he personally has treated 3,000 sexual offenders since 1978 in Portland, Oregon and Canada, and where he supervised a staff that treated an additional four to five thousand sexual offenders. He has evaluated over a thousand sexual offenders for treatment purposes, and conducted multiple evaluations for 250 sexually violent predator cases. Dr. Wollert has published multiple works on the evaluation and treatment of sexual offenders in

peer-reviewed journals, and conducted extensive research in that area. Trial Transcript, p. 103, ln. 15-p. 105, ln. 25), (Respondent's Exhibit AA)(App. p. 6).

Dr. Wollert first met Swanson in 2004 or 2005 at the request of Swanson's counsel. He has conducted several interviews and evaluations of Swanson since that time. (Trial Transcript, p. 106, ln. 1-p. 107, ln. 9).

As will be fully set forth hereafter, it is Dr. Wollert's opinion that Swanson does not suffer from a mental abnormality, nor is Swanson "more likely than not to commit a sexually violent offense if discharged.

ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO FIND THAT SWANSON CONTINUES TO SUFFER FROM A MENTAL ABNORMALITY AND THAT HE REMAINS LIKELY TO COMMIT A SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSE IF DISCHARGED.

Standard of Review. The Court's review of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is for the correction of errors of law. *In Re the Detention of Betsworth*, 711 N.W.2d 280, 286

(Iowa 2006)(quoting *In Re the Detention of Swanson*, 668 N.W.2d 570, 574 (Iowa 2003). "If there is substantial evidence upon which a rational trier of fact could find the respondent to be a sexually violent predator beyond a reasonable doubt, we are bound by the jury's finding." *Id.* "To determine whether the evidence was substantial, we consider the entirety of the evidence presented in a 'light most favorable to the State, including all legitimate inferences and presumptions which may be fairly and reasonably deduced from the record.' Evidence is not substantial if it raises only suspicion, speculation, or conjecture." *Id.*

Preservation of Error: The issue of the sufficiency of the State's evidence to continue to confine Swanson was challenged throughout the trial to the district court, and specifically argued in closing arguments. Following trial to the district court and its Order Continuing Commitment, Swanson filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal)(App. p. 38).

Discussion. As stated briefly, the district court heard testimony from Swanson, from the State's expert witness Dr. Stacey Hoem, Ph.D., and from Swanson's expert, Dr. Richard

Wollert, Ph.D. The district court gave greater weight to the opinions and conclusions of the State's expert, Dr. Stacey Hoem, Ph.D., than it did to those of Swanson's expert:

The Court gives greater weight to the Annual Report prepared by Dr. Hoem at the Civil Commitment Unit for Sexual Offenders and the impact of dynamic factors on risk to reoffend. The Respondent has yet to complete a treatment program and remains in Phase 1. The Court finds that the state has proven beyond a reasonable doubt, as required by Code of Iowa Section 229A.8(6)(d), that the Respondent's mental abnormality remains such that he is likely to engage in predatory acts that constitute sexually violent offenses if discharged and/or that the Respondent is not suitable for placement in a transitional release program pursuant to Section 229A.8A.

With regard to suitability for a transitional release program, pursuant to Code of Iowa Section 229A.8A, the Court finds that the evidence before it does not allow the Court to find that the Respondent's mental abnormality is no longer such that he is not at a high risk to reoffend, that the Respondent has achieved and demonstrated significant insights into his sex-offending cycle, that the Respondent has accepted responsibility for past behavior and understands the impact sexually violent crimes have upon a victim, that the Respondent has a detailed relapse prevention plan which has been developed and accepted by the treatment provider which is appropriate for his mental abnormality and sex-offending history, or that the Respondent is not likely to engage in predatory acts constituting sexually violent offenses while in the program. As previously found by other

reviewing judges, this Court continues to find that the Respondent remains a legitimate public safety concern and must maintain full meaningful participation in the treatment program for sexually violent predators before his placement in a less restrictive setting is appropriate.

(Order Continuing Commitment, p. 8)(App. p. 28).

Swanson recognizes that his case before the district court amounted to "the proverbial battle of the experts." *In Re the Detention of Hollins*, 856 N.W.2d 1, 2, (Table) 2014WL 3931485 (IowaCt.App. 2014). As such, the weight to be assigned the testimony of each witness is within the province of the fact-finder. *City of Forest City v. Holland Contracting Corp.*, 810 N.W.2d 532 (Table), 2012 WL 170195)(Citing *In re the Estate of Hagedorn*, 690 N.W.2d 84, 88 (Iowa 2004). Swanson asserts, however, that the State's evidence was insufficient to reach the level of beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the district court's decision is not based on substantial evidence.

To begin with, the State's expert, Dr. Hoem, had little to no expertise when compared to that of Swanson's expert, Dr. Wollert. Dr. Hoem received her doctorate approximately ten (10) years prior to trial. (State's Exhibit 11)(App. p. 24). She has one year of experience treating sexual offenders, and has evaluated sexual offenders for the States of Wisconsin and Iowa for a combined twelve (12) years. *Id.* The bulk of her experience with sexual offenders involves reporting the results of her evaluations in court. *Id.*

Dr. Wollert, on the other hand, has beginning in 1978, treated sexual offenders, evaluated sexual offenders, and conducted research and published about sexual offenders. He created a State certified outpatient mental health clinic specializing in the treatment of sexual offenders where he personally has treated 3,000 sexual offenders in Portland, Oregon and Canada, and where he supervised a staff that treated an additional four to five thousand sexual offenders. He has evaluated over a thousand sexual offenders for treatment purposes, and conducted multiple evaluations for 250 sexually violent predator evaluations. Dr. Wollert has published multiple works on the evaluation and treatment of sexual offenders in peer-reviewed journals, and conducted research in that area. (Trial Transcript, p. 103, ln. 15-p. 105,

In. 25), (Respondent's Exhibit AA)(App. p. 6). The disparity in the experts' credentials is evident in the methodology undertaken by each expert, and the opinions resulting therefrom.

ARGUMENT A

THE STATE'S EVIDENCE THAT SWANSON CONTINUES TO SUFFER FROM A MENTAL ABNORMALITY IS INSUFFICIENT

Dr. Hoem, while not making an independent diagnosis of Swanson, confirmed the diagnosis made by a prior State evaluator in 2002--Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified (Nonconsent), and Personality Disorder Not Otherwise Specified--since she did not feel that Swanson had dealt with and talked about why he committed the rapes. (Trial Transcript, p. 80, ln. 22-p. 81, ln. 23). Dr. Hoem acknowledged that Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified (Nonconsent) is considered a "rape paraphilia" where the person is sexually aroused to the physical act of forcing sex. (Trial Transcript, p. 81, ln. 24-p. 82, ln. 7). There is no evidence in the record to demonstrate that Swanson became sexually aroused to coerced or forced sexual contact. In

addition, such a paraphilia, or a disorder describing nonconsensual sexual contact is not contained in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, (DSM), the diagnostic manual most commonly used by mental health practitioners in North America. Despite the decades-long efforts of some psychiatrists and psychologists to have this condition included in the DSM as a mental disorder, its inclusion has been rejected each time. (Trial Transcript, p. 82, ln. 11-p. 83, ln. 20).

Based on her reading of the criteria listed in the DSM, Dr. Hoem also holds the opinion that Swanson suffers from a personality disorder with antisocial aspects. (Trial Transcript, p. 80, ln. 22-p. 81, ln. 15).

Dr. Wollert began his evaluation of Swanson with consideration of the diagnoses given Swanson by State evaluators. With regard to the diagnosis of Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified (Nonconsent), Dr. Wollert indicated that it was a diagnosis that has a great deal of controversy surrounding it. It has been rejected for inclusion in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the American Psychiatric

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