IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18-0715

IN RE THE DETENTION OF ROBERT SWANSON, Respondent–Appellant,

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE KELLYANN LEKAR, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

TYLER J. BULLER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov

KEISHA F. CRETSINGER Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

This case can be decided based on existing legal principles.

Transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. Iowa R. App.

P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The respondent, Robert Swanson, appeals a district court order continuing his commitment as a sexually violent predator ("SVP") pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 229A. His commitment was continued following a bench trial in the Black Hawk County District Court, the Hon. Kellyann Lekar presiding.

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant's course of proceedings as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

The respondent has been committed as a sexually violent predator since 2002. Trial tr. p. 5, lines 10–14. He was fifty-one or fifty-two then. Trial tr. p. 5, lines 15–16.

At the time of commitment, the respondent was not presently confined, so the legal basis of his commitment was a recent overt act. Trial tr. p. 5, lines 17–19. Specifically, the respondent called and harassed a woman by phone, leading her to call the police. Trial tr. p. 5, line 20 - p. 7, line 23.

Prior to this recent over act, the respondent had also been convicted of two different sexual assaults, in 1973 and 1980. Trial tr. p. 7, line 24 - p. 8, line 3; SVP Verdict, p. 2; App. 29. The respondent now admits that he "raped" three different women. Trial tr. p. 8, lines 7 - p. 9, line 1. One of the respondent's victims was 14. Trial tr. p. 14, line 25 - p. 15, line 4.

The respondent said that he raped the women due to stressors in his life, including his relationship with his girlfriend, workplace issues, and problems with his then-marriage. *See* trial tr. p. 10, lines 16-24; tr. p. 11, line 23 - p. 15, line 21.

The respondent claims he does not quite remember how his interactions with these women went from a "normal social interaction to a rape." Trial tr. p. 17, lines 21–23. He has learned in the years since, however, that he raped women because of "misunderstood anger and misplaced anger." Trial tr. p. 18, lines 16–18. Despite this, the respondent maintains that his civil commitment is unfair and should not have been allowed. Trial tr. p. 19, lines 4–17. Today, he is still angry, but "[i]t's very different anger." Trial tr. p. 42, lines 23–24. In the SVP court's words, the respondent "struggles to understand others' perspectives and perceptions of his behavior and statements." SVP Verdict, p. 4; App. 31.

During his various periods of incarceration, the respondent did not complete sex offender treatment. Trial tr. p. 19, line 24 — p. 20, line 18; p. 28, lines 15—24. Shortly after release from his sex-assault convictions, the respondent threatened Judge Linda Reade and was incarcerated in federal prison. Trial tr. p. 21, line 11 — p. 22, line 8; p. 37, lines 21—24. More recently, in February of 2017, the respondent wrote a letter to Virginia Barchman, one of the prosecutors from his original criminal cases, writing: "there will surely come a time when your karma runs out and I hope I can somehow be there on that day

to look you directly in your eyes because I would like to be the one holding and playing with the gun upside your head." SVP Verdict, p. 4; App. 31; trial tr. p. 62, lines 9–11.

The respondent is currently in the first of five phases in the Civil Commitment Unit for Sex Offenders ("CCUSO") treatment. Trial tr. p. 32, lines 12–16. The first phase is essentially the "orientation" phase of the program. Trial tr. p. 32, lines 17–21. The respondent admits that he only follows CCUSO rules "[m]ost of the time." Trial tr. p. 35, lines 17–18. He has not advanced to further stages because he refuses to comply with rules or complete required assignments. SVP Verdict, p. 4; App. 31. The respondent also testified that he is not willing to register as a sex offender upon his release. Trial tr. p. 36, line 14 — p. 37, line 4; SVP Verdict, p. 4; App. 31.

Dr. Stacey Hoem, a clinical psychologist, interviewed and assessed the respondent. SVP Verdict, p. 5; App. 32. Dr. Hoem agreed with previous psychologists' diagnoses for the respondent: Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specific (Nonconsent) and Personality Disorder Not Otherwise Specified (with Antisocial, Narcissistic, and Schizoid traits). SVP Verdict, p. 5; App. 32.

When Dr. Hoem first attempted to interview him, the respondent refused, said "hell no," and refused to sign the annual advisory of patient rights. See trial tr. p. 57, line 24 - p. 58, line 13. When Dr. Hoem tried to interview the respondent at a later date, he claimed that he had never refused her initial interview (even though Dr. Hoem heard him do so). Trial tr. p. 58, line 25 - p. 59, line 11. Although the respondent did eventually agree to an interview, he tended to not answer questions directly and "explained away" his past offenses. Trial tr. p. 59, lines 12-22. The respondent also denied writing the threatening letter to Judge Reade and then tried to claim "that's not really what happened" when Dr. Hoem read the letter to him verbatim. Trial tr. p. 59, line 23 - p. 60, line 22. He similarly denied threatening Barchman in the letter that said he "would like to be the one holding and playing with the gun upside [her] head." Trial ${\rm tr.\ p.\ 62,\ line\ 13-p.\ 63,\ line\ 1.\ }$ Finally, the respondent also denied having any kind of mental abnormality. Trial tr. p. 65, lines 12-14.

In Dr. Hoem's opinion, the respondent's mental abnormality has not changed such that he is no longer more likely than not to commit future sexually violent offenses. SVP Verdict, p. 5; App. 32. In reviewing the CCUSO treatment notes, Dr. Hoem saw little to no

treatment progress related to the mental abnormality. Trial tr. p. 65, line 15 — p. 66, line 3. Instead, the notes indicated that the respondent spent much of his time in therapy complaining about his legal issues. Trial tr. p. 65, line 15 — p. 66, line 3.

Dr. Hoem opined that the respondent was more likely than not to commit future sexually violent offenses based on her assessment of actuarial data and dynamic risk factors. SVP Verdict, p. 5; App. 32. Due to the respondent's age, he scored relatively low on the Static-99 actuarial instrument. *See* trial tr. p. 68, line 15 — p. 69, line 7. However, his dynamic risk factors greatly increased his risk of reoffense.

Dr. Hoem testified regarding (and the district court credited) the following dynamic risk factors:

- **Resistance to rules and supervision.** The respondent has a significant number of behavior reports—approximately eight—for failure to comply with CCUSO rules and regulations. Trial tr. p. 70, line 14 p. 71, line 4. This factor is relevant to the risk of re-offense because it corresponds to the respondent's likelihood of complying with laws and societal normal upon release. Trial tr. p. 71, lines 5–14.
- **Poor problem solving.** The respondent's offenses demonstrate that he lacks problem-solving skills and turns to violent rape when he is unable to otherwise resolve his anger and other emotions. *See* trial tr. p. 71, line 19 p. 72, line 21. This risk factor is relevant to the risk of re-offense because, without better-developed

- problem-solving skills, the respondent may rape again when confronted with a situation or emotions he cannot resolve. Trial tr. p. 72, line 22 —p. 73, line 17.
- **Problems with social boundaries.** The respondent has repeatedly sent inappropriate, harassing, or threatening letters to women—including a recent attempt to contact one of his prior victims. Trial tr. p. 73, line 18—p. 74, line 25. This risk factor is relevant to recidivism because the respondent "holds onto grievances, to resentments for 30, 40 years, plus, and appears to sit and ruminate on them." Trial tr. p. 75, lines 1–23. This could increase the risk of re-offense either because the respondent acts on one of those past grievances or is confronted with a new situation in which he cannot behave appropriately.
- Dysfunctional coping and impulsivity. The respondent threatens, disrespects, and argues with CCUSO staff "when things don't go his way." SVP Verdict, p. 6; App. 33. He also argues with other patients and lacks the ability to avoid the arguments or otherwise deal with interpersonal issues. SVP Verdict, p. 6; App. 33.

In Dr. Hoem's opinion, the respondent has not reduced these dynamic risk factors to the point where he is no longer more likely than not to commit future sexually violent offenses. *See* trial tr. p. 78, line 22 - p. 79, line 3.

Richard Wollert testified as an expert for the defense. SVP Verdict, pp. 6–7; App. 33–34. He admitted that the failure to complete sex-offender treatment may increase the respondent's risk of re-offense, but noted he "disagree[d]" with the diagnoses assigned to the respondent and dislikes assessments based on dynamic risk

factors. Verdict, p. 7; App. 34. The district court's written verdict expressly noted that the court gave less weight to Wollert's opinion than Dr. Hoem's. SVP Verdict, p. 8; App. 35.

ARGUMENT

I. The SVP Court Correctly Found the Respondent's Commitment as a Sexually Violent Predator Should Continue. The District Court Found the State's Expert More Credible than the Respondent's Expert.

Motion to Strike

In portions of his brief, the respondent attempts to inject empirical social-science research to support factual assertions. *See*, *e.g.*, Respondent's Proof Br. at 30, 31, 32, 33, 35, 37, 38 (citing various psychological and sociological studies). Because the sole issue presented by the respondent on appeal is the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his continued commitment as a sexually violent predator, review is necessarily limited to the record presented below. The studies cited by the respondent are outside the record and cannot be considered. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.801. References to outside-the-record materials should be stricken or otherwise not considered by this Court in reviewing sufficiency.

Preservation of Error

The State does not contest error preservation for the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the respondent's continued commitment as a sexually violent predator, given that this matter was tried to the bench. *Cf. State v. Abbas*, 561 N.W.2d 72, 74 (Iowa 1997).

Standard of Review

Review of sufficiency is for correction of errors at law. *In re Detention of Altman*, 723 N.W.2d 181, 184 (Iowa 2006). This Court "views the evidence in a light most favorable to the [bench] verdict, disregarding all contrary evidence and inferences, and determines whether the evidence was sufficient for the [fact-finder] to have believed beyond a reasonable doubt" that the respondent is a sexually violent predator. *See id.* at 184.

Merits

What the respondent wants is for this Court to set aside the trial court's credibility findings and replace them with the respondent's self-serving view. This, the Court cannot do. Credibility findings are virtually unreviewable on appeal. *See State v. Hickman*, 576 N.W.2d 364, 367 (Iowa 1998) (collecting cases). Particular to cases that turn on conflicting expert testimony—as SVP cases do—the Supreme Court has been clear regarding an appellate court's limited role: "When a

case evolves into a battle of experts, we, as the reviewing court, readily defer to the district court's judgment as it is in a better position to weigh the credibility of the witnesses." *State v. Jacobs*, 607 N.W.2d 679, 685 (Iowa 2000). The respondent here has not provided the kind of extraordinary grounds that would even arguably permit jettisoning a trial judge's credibility findings based on this Court's review of a cold record.

The SVP court was upfront about its dilemma: "This Court is faced with a static measure that places Swanson at lower risk to reoffend, [but] is also confronted with multiple dynamic factors that suggest Swanson is at a higher risk to reoffend." SVP Verdict, p. 8; App. 35. The court found the respondent's testimony unbelievable, noting it "cannot rely upon the credibility of Swanson" due to his history of lying and refusal to participate in treatment where the veracity of his admissions could be tested. SVP Verdict, p. 8; App. 35. In the battle of experts, the Court expressly wrote that it "gives greater weight to the Annual Report prepared by Dr. Hoem at the Civil Commitment Unit for Sexual Offenders and the impact of dynamic actors on risk to reoffend." SVP Verdict, p. 8; App. 35.

Even the respondent candidly admits the district court resolved the credibility questions adversely to him: "The district court gave greater weight to the opinions and conclusions of the State's expert, Dr. Stacey Hoem, Ph.D., than it did to those of Swanson's expert." Respondent's Proof Br. at 19. He further admits that "the weight to be assigned the testimony of each witness is within the province of the fact-finder." Respondent's Proof Br. at 20. This is fatal to his claim.

The claims advanced by the respondent on appeal are nothing more than an attempt to re-litigate credibility in a new arena. But the appellate courts are not the place for such a contest. *Jacobs*, 607 N.W.2d at 685; *see also State v. Lage*, No. 01-0496, 2002 WL 597419, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 13, 2002) ("It is the role of the [fact-finder], not the appellate courts, to determine credibility of witnesses and resolve any conflicts in evidence."). For example, the respondent complains that he thinks his expert was more qualified than the State's expert. Respondent's Proof Br. at 20–22. This is plainly the kind of credibility question resolved by a fact-finder at trial, not an appellate court on substantial-evidence review.

The respondent goes on to make two more-specific challenges in his brief. First, he claims that the State's evidence is insufficient to show that the respondent continues to suffer from a mental abnormality. Respondent's Proof Br. at 22–29. This claim is without merit under controlling case law, which holds that a "mental abnormality" is not limited to specific diagnoses in specific psychological manuals. Second, the respondent claims that he is no longer likely to commit future sexually violent offenses.

Respondent's Proof Br. at 29–41. This claim is without merit in light of the dynamic risk factors proven at the annual-review trial, as well as the SVP court's credibility findings that accepted Dr. Hoem's testimony and rejected Wollert's.

A. The respondent suffers from a mental abnormality.

In order to sustain an SVP commitment under Chapter 229A, a sexually violent predator must have a "mental abnormality," which "means a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity of a person and predisposing that person to commit sexually violent offenses to a degree which would constitute a menace to the health and safety of others." Iowa Code § 229A.2(6) (2017). "[T]he types of conditions that can serve to establish a

'mental abnormality' are not limited to certain recognized diagnoses." In re Det. of Barnes, 689 N.W.2d 455, 458 (Iowa 2004). Further, the mental abnormality need not be primarily or exclusively linked to sexual offenses, but may also predispose the person to commit other crimes. In re Det. of Altman, 723 N.W.2d 181, 184 (Iowa 2006).

The respondent here was diagnosed with (1) paraphilia not otherwise specified — nonconsent and (2) personality disorder not otherwise specified — antisocial and narcissistic with schizoid traits. SVP Verdict, p. 5; App. 32. While the respondent is of the view that these diagnoses should not be legally sufficient to support commitment, Iowa's appellate courts disagree: they have repeatedly affirmed commitments based on the same or substantially similar diagnoses. See, e.g., In re Det. of Stenzel, 827 N.W.2d 690, 702 (Iowa 2013) (antisocial personality disorder and paraphilia not otherwise specified — nonconsent); In re Det. of Hennings, 744 N.W.2d 333, 336 (Iowa 2008) (diagnoses included, but not limited to, paraphilia not otherwise specific and antisocial personality disorder); In re Det. of Barnes, 689 N.W.2d 455, 458 (Iowa 2004) (antisocial personality disorder); In re Det. of Hodges, 689 N.W.2d 467, 470 (Iowa 2004) (antisocial personality disorder); Det. of Hollins v. State, No. 13-1137,

2014 WL 3931485, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2014) (antisocial personality disorder and paraphilia not otherwise specified); *In re Det. of Blaise*, 2008 WL 4308312, at *1–2 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 17, 2008) (paraphilia not otherwise specified and personality disorder not otherwise specified). These cases dispose of the respondent's claim.

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